IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC12-1204 Lower Court Case No.-562001CF000793A

BY___

RICHARD ALLEN JOHNSON Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CRAIG TROCINO Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 996270

SCOTT GAVIN Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0058651

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 1 East Broward Blvd. Suite 444. Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel. (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, entered the judgments of convictions and death sentence currently at issue.

On February 21, 2001 Mr. Johnson was arrested in St. Lucie County, Florida. (R. 3-6). On March 7, 2001 Mr. Johnson was indicted for First Degree Murder, Kidnapping, and Sexual Battery Using Great Force. (R. 1-2). Later, in 2004, Mr. Johnson was also charged by information for Robbery and the cases were consolidated. Trial occurred June 7-17, 2004 and Mr. Johnson was found guilty of first degree murder, kidnapping, robbery, and sexual battery with use of great force. (R. 625-27).

The circuit court conducted Mr. Johnson's penalty phase on June 21, 2004. At the penalty phase, trial counsel presented testimony of several family members and friends in support of non-statutory mitigation. (R. 2797-2893). Counsel also presented Dr. Theodore Williams, a forensic psychologist, who had evaluated Mr. Johnson. Dr. Williams found several diagnoses, the most important being mixed personality disorder, Personality Disorder NOS and moderate depression. (R. 2960). As a result, Dr. Williams testified that he believed Mr. Johnson met the "minimum criteria" for the statutory mitigator of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. (R. 2956, 2960). Dr. Williams also testified

in support of the statutory mitigator that Mr. Johnson had been unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of law on the night of the murder. Dr. Williams based this diagnosis from his interviews with Mr. Johnson, review of school records, and documentation that on the night of the murder Mr. Johnson had been intoxicated and possibly under the influence of ecstasy. (R. 2955).

The jury recommended Mr. Johnson be sentenced to death by a vote of 11-1. (R. 656).

A *Spencer* hearing was held July 15, 2004.¹ Following the *Spencer* hearing, on August 9, 2004, the trial court accepted the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Johnson to death. (R. 913-931). The court found three aggravating circumstances: the murder occurred during the course of kidnapping and sexual battery (great weight); Mr. Johnson was previously convicted of a felony and put on community control (moderate weight); and the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great weight). (R. 913-931). In mitigation, the court found that Mr. Johnson: had no significant history of criminal activity, particularly violent crimes (moderate weight); witnessed and was the victim of frequent physical and verbal abuse (some weight); had a history of extensive drug and alcohol abuse and was under the influence of alcohol at the time of the murder (moderate weight); was a slow learner

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

(no weight); was able to show kindness to others (little weight); exhibited good behavior in court (little weight); and would adjust well to prison and would not commit further violent crimes (little weight). (R. 920-27). The circuit court rejected the two statutory mitigators presented by Mr. Johnson. (R. 921).

U.S. Const. Amend XIVMr. Johnson filed a notice of appeal on September 1, 2004. (R. 944). Mr. Johnson's appeal raised fourteen issues.² This Court affirmed Mr. Johnson's convictions and sentence on direct appeal on December 13, 2007. *Johnson v. State*, 969 So.2d 938 (2007).

² Fourteen issues were raised on direct appeal: (1) grant of a challenge for cause to a potential juror over defense objection; (2) admission of a statement by the victim while she was being strangled; (3) allowing the State to proceed on a robbery count charged by information rather than indictment; (4) improper cross examination of the defendant; (5) sufficiency of the evidence of kidnapping, sexual battery, and felony murder; (6) proportionality of the death sentence; (7) imposition of a death sentence after the defendant rejected a plea bargain for a sentence of life imprisonment; (8) application of the HAC aggravator; (9) Florida's capital sentencing law is unconstitutional because the defendant bears the burden of proving death is inappropriate; (10) Florida's capital sentencing law is unconstitutional because a death sentence can rest on a nonunanimous jury recommendation based on facts that are not found beyond a reasonable doubt, contrary to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002); (11) Florida's capital sentencing statute violates Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), because a conviction of first degree murder without more makes a defendant eligible for the death penalty, which fails to adequately narrow the field of first degree murderers sentenced to death; (12) the instruction that a jury should find a mitigator only if it is reasonably convinced of its existence violates separation of powers; (13) an instruction to the jury that its role is advisory denigrates its responsibility, contrary to Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); and (14) Florida's capital sentencing law is unconstitutional because no specific number of votes is required for jurors to find aggravators or mitigators. See Johnson v. State, 969 So. 2d 938 (2007).

Mr. Johnson filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court which was denied on April 21, 2008. *Richard Allen Johnson v. State of Florida*, US S. Ct No. 07-9402.

Mr. Johnson initiated his state postconviction proceedings by requesting public records pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852. (PCR. 113-151). He timely filed his initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend on April 21, 2009. (PCR. 303-401). An amended Rule 3.851 motion was filed April 22, 2010. (PCR. 493-551) The State filed a response on May 21, 2010. (PCR. 558-623). Following the case management conference the Circuit Court issued an order granting an evidentiary hearing on claims III, IV, V, and VI of Mr. Johnson's Rule 3.851 Motion. (PCR. 626-628).

An evidentiary hearing was held on November 7-9, 2011. At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Johnson presented testimony from one expert and several lay witnesses.

Mr. Johnson was represented at trial by Thomas Garland and Richard Stone. Mr. Garland testified that he was appointed to the case as a second chair in January 2003 following Mr. Albert Moore's withdrawing prior to trial. (PC-T. 406-7). Garland recalled that there were concerns regarding the issue of postmortem injuries to the victim. (PC-T. 408). He also recalled that there were issues with a

co-defendant John Vitale, and the exchange of letters written back and forth between Mr. Johnson and Vitale. (PC-T. 408). Garland could not recall the content of the letters. (PC-T. 409). He recalled receiving one box of materials from Moore's files but no close out memo detailing what work had already been prepared. (PC-T. 409-10).

Garland testified that since Stone had been retained by the family it was decided that Stone would handle the guilt phase and his duties were to assist Stone and also handle the penalty phase. (PC-T. 411). He testified that Stone was not really involved with the mitigation portion of the case and this it was "mostly" him that handled penalty phase preparation. (PC-T 411).

Garland first became aware of the letter writing campaign from talking with Moore. (PC-T. 420). He reviewed several letters authored by Vitale to the State in which he was offering information about Mr. Johnson in return for some form of plea agreement. (PC-T. 413-17) (Def. Ex.# 1-3). Garland knew that State Attorneys, Richard Seymour and Lynn Park, were prosecuting both Mr. Johnson and Vitale. (PC-T. 416). Garland learned that Vitale was trying to cut a deal with the State. (PC-T. 417). According to Garland, Vitale's letters would have indicated his bias, prejudice, and slanting of testimony to cut a deal and save himself and would have "absolutely" damaged his credibility in they eyes of the jury. (PC-T. 419).

Garland claimed he did not encourage Mr. Johnson to continue writing to Vitale and if Stone had done so, it was prior to his appointment on the case. (PC-T. 420). Garland recalled that somewhere in the letters Vitale had confessed to the crime. (PC-T. 421). Garland confirmed that a letter dated January 14, 2003 (the Burns Letter) from Vitale's attorney, Thomas Burns to the State indicated Vitale's eagerness work for the state against Mr. Johnson. (PC-T. 427). He did not recall knowledge of this letter prior to trial. Garland noted that if that did in fact happen or even were planned to happen, it would have been a violation of Mr. Johnson's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights to counsel. (PC-T. 427). Garland said the letters between Vitale and Mr. Johnson that the State used at trial and were "damning" to Mr. Johnson. (PC-T. 428).

Garland testified that Vitale's testimony that the victim had stated she wanted to see her children surprised them and was a "problem." (PC-T. 448). He testified that part of their strategy was to attempt not to draw attention to it but that despite that, "there should have been a limiting instruction or something to that effect." (PC-T. 448). Regarding Vitale's testimony that Mr. Johnson had wanted to have sex with the victim while she was asleep, Garland recalled that they didn't object because they didn't believe it was a big deal. (PC-T. 451). Garland added that he felt Vitale was a liar and that the jury didn't take his testimony to be worth much. (PC-T. 452). The fact that Vitale may have been editorializing and adding

things to his relationship was not surprising to Garland. (PC-T. 452).

Garland was in charge of mitigation but that Stone had some involvement in the preparation. (PC-T. 452). At the time he was appointed Garland recalled that Dr. Theodore Williams had already been appointed. (PC-T. 452). Dr. Robert Brugnoli was also appointed to perform a neuropsychological evaluation. (PC-T. 452). Dr. Williams had met with Mr. Johnson and written a report but was having trouble meeting with the family. (PC-T. 453). Dr. Williams had indicated those concerns to Garland. (PC-T. 453). Garland never sought out the services of a mitigation specialist. (PC-T. 453).

Garland testified that Dr. Williams was first appointed to determine competency and later to assist in preparing mitigating circumstances. (PC-T. 454). Garland could only recall that "there were a couple of statutory mitigators and some others" found by Dr. Williams. (PC-T. 454). He stated Dr. Williams had briefly addressed the issue of post traumatic stress disorder but that he didn't testify to it at trial. (PC-T. 454). He did not recall doing anything additional to follow up on that specific diagnosis. (PC-T. 455). Garland also recalled that there was evidence of serious dysfunction in Mr. Johnson's family background as well as issues with a learning disability and that they "tried" to regard such information as a fruitful area of mitigation. (PC-T. 455-56).

Garland initially claimed Dr. Brugnolis' findings were "nothing that they

could use at trial." (PC-T. 456). Upon refreshing his recollection Garland testified that Dr. Brugnoli's report indicated that Mr. Johnson's capacity to accurately plan his actions and anticipate and understand the consequence s of his actions provided he was in a non-intoxicated state. (PC-T. 457). There was evidence in Dr. Williams' report and from Vitale's statements that Mr. Johnson had been drinking on the night of the crime. (PC-T. 457-458; 511).

Albert Moore represented Mr. Johnson's briefly. (PC-T. 587). He recalled that his involvement in the case consisted of mainly drafting and filings motions as well as handling discovery and deposition of witnesses. (PC-T. 588). Moore recalled that there was an issue with damage to the victim's genital area which they felt was going to be a "problematic and quite inflammatory to a jury." (PC-T. 588-89). He recalled that there were attempts to try and find an alternative explanation to the theory that the defendant's had "cut the area." (PC-T. 589).

Moore became aware that letters had been written Mr. Johnson and Vitale. (PC-T. 591). He had not encouraged Mr. Johnson to communicate with Vitale and could he recall if Stone had done so. (PC-T. 591). Moore testified that is was not a good idea to have his client communicate with anybody, including a co-defendant. (PC-T. 591-92). According to Moore some of Vitale's letters were confessions or "close to a confession." (PC-T. 592). He had no information that Vitale was communicating with the State and had he know he would have wanted to use that information for cross-examination. (PC-T. 592; 594). Moore was not aware the there had been direct communication between Vitale's lawyer, Thomas Burns, and the State. (PC-T. 595). Upon reviewing the Burns Letter, he stated that if Vitale had been working as an agent for the State that would have been important for purposes of cross-examining him on his motivation for testifying at Mr. Johnson's trial. (PC-T. 599). Moore also testified that upon further reflection he would also make certain to advise Mr. Johnson to cease and further communication with Vitale because it appeared from the content of the letter that Vitale was trying to get information from Mr. Johnson. (PC-T. 601).

Robert Stone testified Mr. Johnson's family retained him. (PC-T. 693). When Moore, withdrew Garland was appointed as co-counsel and was responsible for the penalty phase. (PC-T. 693-694). Their theory of the case was that Vitale was the killer. (PC-T. 694). A letter from Vitale, in which he confessed to the murder, buttressed their theory. (PC-T. 695). Following receipt of that confession letter, Stone sent it to the State. (Def. Ex.# 7) (PC-T. 697). Just prior to trial Stone received letters from the State that indicated Mr. Johnson had been communicating with Vitale. (PC-T. 698). Stone had not been aware of any communication prior to that time. (PC-T. 698). Stone found out about the letters from Burns, Vitale's attorney, after telling Burns that Vitale confessed. (PC-T. 698). After reviewing the Burns Letter, Stone noted that had he known of this information prior to trial he

would have been extremely upset. (Def. Ex.#6) (PC-T. 699). Stone believed that the information contained in the letter would have been useful to show that Vitale was working as an agent of the state. (PC-T. 700).

Stone received letters documenting that Vitale had been attempting to directly contact the State to work out a plea deal. (PC-T. 701). Stone testified however, that he was not sure how he would use them on cross-examination, saying "[I]t would depend on whether or not I thought these would be helpful to impeach him." (PC-T. 701). He noted that generally anything you can get to impeach a witness is useful but that he wasn't sure how he used them at trial. (PC-T. 701).

Stone contacted two experts with respect to issue of the significant wounds to the victim's body. (PC-T. 705). One expert, Dr. Feagle, said it was possible the wounds could have been caused by marine life. (PC-T. 705). Stone remembered that during the examination of Dr. Diggs the State referred to the wounds as "cutting". (PC-T. 706). Although Garland did object he did not secure a ruling and Stone could not give a reason why. (PC-T. 706).

Regarding Vitale's testimony that Mr. Johnson wanted to have sex with the victim while she was in the back of the car asleep, Stone testified that he did not necessarily believe it implied that Mr. Johnson wanted to so while she was asleep. (PC-T. 709). Stone stated that the inference that Mr. Johnson wanted to have sex

with her was a suggestion by the State but that he wouldn't necessarily draw the same conclusion. (PC-T. 709). Stone also recalled that Vitale's testimony that the victim stated she wanted to see her children, was something they attempted to keep away form the jury but recall if a limiting instruction was requested. (PC-T. 710-711).

Thomas Burns testified that he appointed to represent Vitale. (PC-T. 679). He did not recall at the time he came on the case that Vitale had made any communications with the State. (PC-T. 679). Later, during negotiations with State Attorneys Park and Seymour, Burns testified that he made known to them that there had been some letters that been exchanged between Mr. Johnson and Vitale. (PC-T. 679). Burns informed the State that Vitale was willing to testify against Mr. Johnson if there could be sufficient reward for doing so. (PC-T. 680). Burns recalled that the terms of the deal were that Vitale would plea to accessory after the fact with a cap of twenty-two years. (PC-T. 680).

Burns characterized Vitale as "squirrely at times" and not "fully under my control." (PC-T. 681). Burns claimed he never saw letters written by Vitale directly to the State. (PC-T. 681). However, he admitted that two of Vitale's letters (Def. Ex.#1 and Def. Ex.#2) indicated that Vitale was attempting to directly communicate with the State. (PC-T. 682).

Burns stated that he would typically memorialize by letter his discussions

with the State about Vitale's plea negotiations. (PC-T. 684). One of those letters (the Burns Letter), dated January 14, 2003(Def. Ex.#6), he documented the possibility of Vitale wearing a wire for the State to obtain information from Mr. Johnson. (PC-T. 685). Burns stated Vitale was thought he could get Mr. Johnson to confess and that there would be:

some information coming from Mr. Johnson that would serve to put the letters that had been exchanged in some sort of context, some sort of an order perhaps, some clarifications perhaps.

(PC-T. 685). Burns said the importance of Vitale obtaining such information would have been to deal with Vitale's previous confessions. (PC-T. 686).

Burns noted that the portion of the letter where he mentions the prospect of Vitale "muddying the waters" he was attempting to convey his belief that Vitale was never completely under his control and being emotional enough to do something against his own interests. (PC-T. 689). Burns confirmed that given that disposition under certain circumstances he believed Vitale would be less than truthful. (PC-T. 689). Burns testified that the "truest way understand the letter" would be to characterize its "primary purpose as being for me to show Vitale that, hey, I am bringing up these issues to Lynn Park that are concerning you and the ball is in their court." (PC-T. 688). However according to Vitale, Burns never showed him the letter. (PC-T. 688)

John Vitale, the co-defendant testified that he was currently serving prison sentence for his role in the Hagin murder and was due to be released some time in 2019. (PC-T. 514). He also admitted to being convicted of two prior felonies and one crime involving dishonesty. (PC-T. 514-15). Vitale stated the when he was arrested he spoke directly to the state before counsel, Burns, was appointed and continued to communicate with the state after appointment of counsel. (PC-T. 519). Vitale stated that he was writing letters back and forth with Mr. Johnson and that his lawyer was aware of it. (PC-T. 521-22). He identified several letters as ones he wrote, some of which were written directly to the state investigator Hamrick. (PC-T.527).

Of the letters Vitale wrote directly to the state, at least one was a confession in which he admitted he, not Mr. Johnson, killed Ms. Hagin and that he had drugged Mr. Johnson in order to frame him for the murder. (PC-T. 529). Vitale also admitted that his purpose for writing letters was to get time to elicit a confession from Mr. Johnson wile wearing a wire. (PC-T. 531). He claimed that neither he nor Burns was in communication with Park about wearing the wire. (PC-T. 532) When shown the Burns Letter he had never seen it before.

Dr. Toomer, M.D., a psychologist, became involved with Mr. Johnson's case in 2009, performing a psychological evaluation and reviewing relevant documents in his case. (PC-T. 613). Dr. Toomer reviewed two reports by Dr. Williams, which indicated a history of family instability, physical and sexual abuse, and a lack of support and nurturance. (PC-T. 616). They reports diagnosed Mr. Johnson with personality disorder, schizoid type, and mentioned of post traumatic stress disorder as a possible diagnosis. (PC-T. 616). The reports contained notes indicating that stressful environments and the use of toxic substances were two factors which would exacerbate Mr. Johnson's diagnoses. (PC-T. 617). Dr. Toomer testified that the early onset of these factors severely affected Mr. Johnson and impacted his mental status functioning to the point that his overall behavioral, cognitive and affective functioning had been suffering for most of his life. (PC-T. 617).

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