IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-1204

RICHARD ALLEN JOHNSON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Drive #900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

2880) Again, the no new evidence was presented at the evidentiary hearing which was not presented at the original trial.

Penalty phase counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to present cumulative mitigation during sentencing. Gilliam v. State, 817 So.2d 768, 781 (Fla. 2002)(finding that the record refutes any claim of prejudice, as the substance of the testimony that Gilliam argues should have been presented would have been largely cumulative to the evidence presented at trial); Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 516 (Fla.1999) (affirming trial court's denial of defendant's claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present additional mitigating evidence where the additional evidence was cumulative to that presented during sentencing); Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 225 (Fla. 1998) (finding additional evidence offered at postconviction evidentiary hearing was cumulative to that presented during penalty phase, thus, claim was denied properly); Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79, 82 (Fla. 1988) (reasoning "[t]he jury, however, heard about Woods' [psychological] problems, and the testimony now advanced, while possibly more detailed than that presented at sentencing, is, essentially, just cumulative to the prior testimony. More is not necessarily better."). Further, Johnson has failed to establish prejudice, that is, he cannot show that there is a reasonable probability

that the result of the proceeding would have been different because the testimony is cumulative to what was presented at trial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Patton, 784 So. 2d at 392(finding that counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present cumulative mitigation during sentencing). The jury's recommendation would not have been different had it heard this cumulative non-statutory mitigation.

A review of the above testimony establishes that Garland's preparation for the penalty phase was constitutionally proper. In order to prove ineffectiveness in this area, there needs to be an almost total abdication of counsel's duty to investigate mitigation. See Wiggins, 123 S.Ct. at 2542 (finding counsel ineffective where there was a complete abandonment of representation - counsel did not investigate or present mitigation, but merely accepted a presentence report). Moreover, counsel is not ineffective merely because, years later, one can point to something different or more that could have been done. See Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1312-14 (11th Cir.2000). Finally, Johnson did not establish prejudice because it is clear that, based upon the significant and weighty aggravators found in this case, the purportedly additional mitigation, most of which was cumulative, would not have resulted in a life recommendation.

ARGUMENT IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF SEVERAL OF JOHNSON'S CLAIMS WAS PROPER. (Restated)

In order to demonstrate that counsel was ineffective. Parker must establish a prima facie case that defense counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance affected the outcome of the trial. A court's summary denial of a postconviction motion will be affirmed where the law and competent, substantial evidence support its findings. Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So.2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998). In Lucas v. State, 841 So.2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2003), this Court stated that: "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record." See State v. Coney, 845 So.2d 120, 134-35 (Fla. 2003); Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). Also, "[t]o support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993)).

For a defendant to prevail on an ineffectiveness claim, he must establish (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) but for counsel's deficiency, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. 688-89.

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 778 So.2d 960, 965 (Fla. 2001). At all times, the defendant bears the burden of proving not only counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and was not the result of a strategic decision, but also actual and substantial prejudice resulted from the deficiency. <u>See Strickland</u>, 466 at 688-89; <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 877 So.2d 706, 711 (Fla. 2004).

In Davis v. State, 875 So.2d 359, 365 (Fla. 2003), this Court reiterated that

the deficiency prong of Strickland requires the defendant establish counsel's conduct was "outside the broad range of competent performance under prevailing professional standards." (citing Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989). With respect to performance, "judicial scrutiny must be highly deferential;" "every effort" must "be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight," "reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct," and "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Davis, 875 In assessing the claim, the Court must start from a "strong So.2d at 365. presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89 (citation omitted). The ability to create a more favorable strategy years later, does not prove deficiency. See Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2000); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, "[c]laims expressing mere disagreement with trial counsel's strategy are insufficient." Stewart v. State, 801 So.2d 59, 65 (Fla. 2001). "A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied." Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). From Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), it is clear the focus is on what efforts were undertaken and why a specific strategy was chosen over another.

Investigation (even non-exhaustive, preliminary one) is not required for counsel reasonably to decline to investigate a line of defense thoroughly. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91 (stating "[s]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent the reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.").

A. The knives were relevant to the case so Johnson's claim that trial counsel should have objected was properly denied.

Johnson contended in his motion for postconviction relief that his trial counsel should have objected to the admission of the knives into evidence because the State failed to show that they belonged to Johnson and that they were irrelevant to the case. The trial court properly denied this claim based on the trial testimony that the knives belonged to Johnson and Vitale and the medical examiner said that they could have been used to inflict the wounds to the victim.

The trial court found:

Johnson claims that counsel failed to object to admission of the kitchen knives into evidence where the State never established that the knives belonged to Johnson and where the knives were irrelevant. The court finds that the knives were properly admitted where Johnson told police he owned the knives and testified at trial that his roommate Vitale owned the knives (T: 2322-30, 2397); and where there was testimony that the knives could have been used for cuts on the victim's face and perineum (T: 2023-24; 2201-04). Thus, the claim is summarily denied because Johnson fails to allege a legally sufficient claim of deficient performance and prejudice.

(PCR. 1676).

Despite Johnson's repeated assertion that the knives were "completely irrelevant," they were relevant as possible weapons responsible for the cuts on the victim's face and her genital area, as even trial counsel acknowledged. (T: 2023-24). The State legitimately tried to demonstrate that Johnson had access to such weapons since its theory was that Johnson used them to make those wounds. Morris testified that Johnson and Vitale moved in with the two knives which she washed. She also said that there was no blood on either of them, a fact which was certainly helpful to the defense. (T:2022-29). Johnson testified that the knives belonged to Vitale although he told the police that he owned kitchen knives. (T: 2322-30, 2397). Diggs testified that in addition to the perineum lacerations the victim had a cut from something like a knife on her forehead which occurred before her death. (T: 2201-4). He also testified that the wounds in the perineal area could have been caused by such a knife. (T: 2202-3). A knife or knives were used against the victim before her death, a fact which is undisputed. Johnson and Vitale shared a room and the knives were part of their property which they transferred when they moved. Johnson had access to those knives and was the person present with the victim in the room that morning according to all the witnesses. The victim suffered both pre-mortem and post-mortem cuts to her body. The knives were relevant and properly admitted. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious issue. King v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 355, 357-58 (Fla. 1990); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So.2d 1009, 1020 (Fla. 1999). Since Johnson has failed to establish the insufficiency prong, this court need not reach the second prong. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052; See also Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, n. 44 (11th Cir.2000); Waterhouse v. State, 792 So.2d 1176, 1182 (Fla.2001). This claim is without merit and was properly denied.

B. The trial court properly denied the claim that Johnson was ineffective for not objecting to the medical examiner's testimony that the knives could have caused the wounds.

Johnson contended in his motion for postconviction relief that his trial counsel should have objected to the medical examiner's testimony because it was misleading and prejudicial. The trial court properly denied this claim, stating:

Johnson claims that counsel failed to object to the medical examiner's testimony concerning the knives and the possibility that the knives could produce the victim's wounds. The court finds no prejudice where the medical examiner testified that the wounds were consistent with being caused by a knife although he could not rule out other causes (T: 2219-21); and where other testimony indicated that the wounds were inconsistent with trauma caused by animals and marine life. (T: 1378-81; 1385-86; 1405-07, 2222-24, 2232-36). Therefore, the claim is summarily denied.

(PCR. 1677).

· · · ·

Johnson's claim regarding the improper testimony about the nature of tissue damage caused by marine life was properly denied. The evidence at trial clearly supported the court's ruling since the medical examiner said he could not definitively determine what had caused the wounds, only that they were consistent with having been caused by a knife although he could not rule out other means of producing them. Furthermore, as outlined earlier, there was testimony from other witnesses that refuted the hypothesis that they were caused by animals. Johnson merely refers to the testimony of Tedder, Hamrick, and Griffith without describing how counsel was ineffective or what the prejudice was. The State was entitled to try to convince the jury of its theory for the cause of the wounds as Johnson was as well when counsel continually sought to establish that the wounds were caused by animals. The jury had both positions before it when they deliberated so Johnson failed to establish any prejudice from this testimony. The record supports the trial court's denial of the claim.

The State maintains that the claim is conclusory and must be summarily denied. Conclusory allegations are legally insufficient on their face and may be denied summarily. See Atwater v. State, 788 So. 2d 223, 229 (Fla. 2001) (stating "defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden.");

Freeman, 761 So. 2d at 1061 (opining "defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden."); Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998) (stating that although courts are encouraged to conduct evidentiary hearings, a summary/conclusory claim "is insufficient to allow the trial court to examine the specific allegations against the record").

C. Johnson failed to establish the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u> since the issue regarding the State's cross-examination of Johnson was raised on appeal and found to be harmless.

Johnson argued that he was prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to object to the State's improper cross-examination of Johnson. Given that this Court found no prejudice when it reviewed this issue on direct appeal, the trial court's summary denial of the claim was proper. The trial court stated:

Johnson claims that counsel failed to object to the prosecutor twice asking Johnson whether witness Thomas Beakley was truthful when he testified that the victim was crying. This issue was raised on appeal where the Florida Supreme Court found harmless error. Johnson, 969 So. 2d at 955. Consequently, the defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice, and the claim is summarily denied.

(PCR. p. 1677).

1 12.

The court properly denied the claim regarding the failure to object to the cross-examination of Johnson since it is procedurally barred and meritless. He

cannot establish prejudice under the <u>Strickland</u> requirements since this issue was raised on direct appeal and this Court found the questioning improper but any error was harmless, stating:

Despite the improper questioning, any error in overruling an objection on the grounds now argued would have been harmless. Johnson responded to the questioning without stating that he thought Beakley was untruthful. In each instance, the question concerned only whether Hagin was crying or whining. Johnson parried the prosecutor's suggestion that either he or Beakley had to be lying by asserting that what Beakley heard as a cry, Johnson heard as a whine. There is no reasonable possibility that this exchange so affected the jury's view of Johnson's credibility that it contributed to the verdict. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986) (defining test of harmless error as whether appellate court can conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict). For the same reason, the questions do not cross the higher threshold of fundamental error, which can be raised even if unpreserved because it "goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process." J.B. v. State, 705 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1998).

Johnson, 969 So.2d at 955.

1 4.1

Based on this, Johnson may not claim ineffectiveness of counsel to gain a second review. Riechmann 777 So.2d at 353 n.14; Teffeteller, 734 So. 2d at 1019; White v. State, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (holding "[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal"). Moreover, given the finding of harmless error, Johnson is unable

to prove prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. Relief should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State requests respectfully this Court affirm the denial of postconviction relief.